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JMR/2011R00002 ‘ ,
' UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT - oJueto 20‘2.
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY T8N M

‘ . : . WILTTERY. WALSH

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA - : Criminal No. 12- ¢/ 57"7 c—rgfﬁ
V. , ' '
GIOVANNI ARENA , ¢ 7 18US.C.§§ 1341, 1512 and 1957
: 26 U.S.C. § 7203
18US.C.§2
INDICTMENT

The Grand Jury in and for the District of New J ersey, sitting at Camden, charges:

COUNTS 1 t0 22
(Mail Fraud - 18 U.S.C. § 1341)
The Defendant
1. At all times relevant to this Indictment:

a.  Defendant GIOVANNI ARENA was a-resident of Camden County, New
Jersey. Defendant Arena maintained bank accounts Aat Bank of America. ‘
b. At various times, defendant GIOVANNI ARENA lived in Mechanicsburg,
Pennsylvania; Blackwood, Laurel Springs and Deptford, New Jersey.
The Casinos | |
2. The Borgot.a Hotel Casino and Spa, Caesars Atlantic City Casino Hotel and
Harrah’s Resort Atlantic City, each located in Atlantic City, New Jersey, and all of which were
financial institutions as that term is defined in 31 U.S.C. v§ 5312(a)(2).
Victim E.R.
3. ‘E.R. was a resident of Pennsylv-ania. E.R. was a member of the family that owned

and operated Progressive Amusements, Inc. (“Progressive Amusements”). Progressive
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Amusements was a family owned and managed coin operated amusement machine company
locatéd in Harrisbﬁrg, Pennsylvania. At various times, E.R. was elﬁployed by Progressive
Amusements and had access to the compan&’s business checks and credit cards. - |
Relationship between the Defendant and the Victim
| 4, Defendant GIOVANNI ARENA previously lived in Mechanicsburg, Pennsylvania
where he operated “Néw York Johnny"s Pizza” until it went out bf businesé inor ébqut 1995. _

5. While working in Mechanicsburg, Pennsylvania, defendant GIOVANNI ARENA' |
met E.R., who was working for Progressive Amusemgnts. |
6. AﬁerVNew York Johnny’s Pizza went out of business, defeﬁdaﬂt GIOVANNI
ARENA approached E.R. to invest in another pizza shqp, “Italian Delight,” located in Dillsburg,
‘Pennsylvania. E.R. agreed to invest in “Italian Delight,” which went out of business in or about
1996. | | | |
| 7. In or about November 1996, defendant 'GIOVANNI ARENA contacted ER to
: inveét in another pizza shop in southern New Jersey. E.R. invested money with defendant
ARENA, In or about 1997, defendant ARENA told E.R. that the pizza shop went out of
_business. _ |
8. In appfoximately 2004, defendant GIOVANNI ARENA contacted E.R. about
investing in an existing pizza shop. | |
9. From in or about 2004 through 2008, defendant GIOVANNI ARENA falsely
promised to invest all of E.R.’s money in pizza shops. Instead, defendant ARENA diverted
approximately $1.2 million of E.R.’s money for ARENA’s personal use. Among other things,
defendant ARENA used E.R.’s money to plurchase‘-luxury automobiles, including BMWs,
Maseratis, énd a20 1‘0 Camaro,v g;clmble at the casinos in Atlantic City, New Jersey, and pay his
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living expenses.
The Scheme

10. From in or about 2004 to in or about 2008, in Camden County, in the District of
New Jei‘sey, and elsewhere, defendant | |

| GIOVANNI ARENA
~ did knowingly devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud E.R. and to obtain

money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and
pro_mises as set forth below:

11, It was a part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that defendant GIOVANNI
ARENA falsely represented fo E.R. that ARENA was opening or purchasing pizza shops in New
Jersey and fraudulently induced E.R. to invest in the business.

a. It was further part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that defendant
GIOVANNI ARENA falsely promised E.R. that ARENA wQuld re-pay E.R.’s “investment” from
the proceeds of the pizza shops.

b. It was further part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that defendant
GIOVANNI ARENA solicited E.R. for additional money, faisely claiming that ARENA: (i.)
needed “just a little” more money to purchase the plzza shops; (ii.) needed mbrg tﬁoney to cover
expenses; or (iii.) needed money for repairs.

c. It was further part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that defendant:
GIOVANNI ARENA caused E.R. to send various checks, often drawn on Progress Amusement’s
bank account, and amounts of cash from Penﬁsylvam'a to New Jersey through the U.S. Mails. |

d. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that defendant
GIOVANNI ARENA never used the funds provided by E.R. to purchase pizza shops, but rather
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used E.R.’s money to pay ARENA’s rent and personal expenses, to gamble at the casinos and to

buy luxury automobiles.

12.

defendant
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On or about the dates listed below, in the District of New Jersey and elsewhere,

GIOVANNI ARENA,

having devised and intending to devise the above-described scheme and artifice to defraud and

for obtaining money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, -

representations and promises, did knowingly and with fraudulent intent placed or cause to be

deposi'tec'l in a post office and authorized depbsitory for mail to be delivered by the United States

Postal Service certain mail matters as more fully described below which contained cash and

checks in envelopes addressed to defendant ARENA totaling $ 1,219,200:

Count .

Approximate Date

Description

1 -

11/29/2007

U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sent from E.R. in
Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Deptford, New
Jersey ~

5/28/2008

U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sent from E.R. in
Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Deptford, New
Jersey

5/30/2008

U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sént from E.R. in
Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Deptford, New
Jersey

7/7/2008

U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sent from E.R. in
Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Blackwood,
New Jersey : '

7/11/2008.

U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sent from E.R. in
Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Blackwood,
New Jersey

7/17/2008

U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sent ﬁbm ER.in
Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Blackwood,
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- New Jersey

7 | 715008 U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sent from E.R. in
: Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Blackwood,
New Jersey ‘ '

18 8/1/2008 U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sent from E.R. in
Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Blackwood,
New Jersey

9 8/8/2008 'U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sent from E.R. in
‘ Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Blackwood,
New Jersey

10 = |8/14/2008 U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sent from E.R. in
Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Blackwood,
New Jersey

11 8/22/2008 ‘U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sent from E.R. in
Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Blackwood,
New Jersey

12 9/12/2008 U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sent from E.R. in
' ' Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Blackwood,
New Jersey

13 9/19/2008 .| U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sent from E.R. in
Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Blackwood, .
New Jersey

14 9/24/2008 ’ U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sent from E:R. in
o - | Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Blackwood,
New Jersey

15 10/3/2008 U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sent from E.R. iﬁ
| Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Blackwood,
New Jersey

16 | 10/10/2008 | U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sent from E.R. in
Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Blackwood,
New Jersey

17 11/7/2008 o U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sent from E.R. in
. Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Blackwood,
New Jersey

18 11/12/2008 U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sent from E.R. in
‘ Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Blackwood,
New Jersey
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19 11/14/2008 U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sent from E.R. in
o Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Blackwood,
New Jersey ' '
20 | 117202008 U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sent from E.R. in
' Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Blackwood,
New Jersey ,
21 11/28/2008 U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sent from ER.in
Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Blackwood,
New Jersey - .
22 12/26/2008 U.S. Postal Service Express Mail Parcel sent from E.R. in
Pennsylvania to defendant Giovani Arena in Blackwood,
New Jersey ~ - '
In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341, and Title 18, United States
Code, Section 2. |
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, - COUNTS 23 to 31 A
(Engaging in Monetary Transactions with Criminally Derived Funds - 18 U.S.C. § 1957)

1. Paragraphs 1 through 9 and 11 of Counts 1 through 22 of this Indictment are
realleged and incorporated by reference as if set forth in full herem

2. On or about the dates listed below, in the District of New Jersey and elsewhere,

defendant )
~ - GIOVANNI ARENA

did knowingly engage and a&empt 1;0 ehgage in the following monetary transactions, na:ﬁely- :
dep051ts withdrawals, transfers, and exchanges of United States currency and monetary |
instruments through financial institutions affecting interstate commerce, in cnmmally denved
property of a , value greater than $10,000 which was derived from specified unlawful activity,

namely, mail fraud, contrary to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341:

Count | Dateof | Type of Amount . | Location 6f 'l"ransactibn :
‘ Transaction | Transaction
23 | 8/17/2007 Cash Payment | $17,449 - | Toyota of Runnemede
24 |2/28/2008 | Cash Withdrawal | $18,000 Bank of America
'.25 6/25/2008 | Cash Buy-In $130,985 Borgota Hotel & Casino
26 |7/16/2008 | Cash Buy-In $30,745 Borgota Hotel & Casino
27 8/1/2008 Cash Buy-In $29,000 Borgota Hotel & Casino
28 8/6/2008 CashBuyln $11,050 | Borgota Hotel & Casino
20 | 8292008 | CashBuy-In $19,011 Borgota Hotel & Casino
30 9/19/2008 "Cash Buy-In $39,350 Borgota Hotel & Casino
31 11/28/2008 | Cash Buy-In - $51,070 Borgota Hotel & Casino |

In violation of Title 18, United States, Code, Section 1957(a), and Title 18, United States

~ Code, Section 2.
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COUNTS 32 to 34 ,
(Failure to File Income Tax Returns - 26 U.S.C. § 7203)

1. Paragraphs 1 through 9 and 11 of Counts 1 through 22 of this‘Indictménf are
realleged and incorporated by reference as if set forth in full herein. |

2. Defendant GIOVANNI ARENA received income from the scheme described in
Cc')unts 1 through 22 of this Indictxﬁent. |

3. During the calendar years 2006 through 2008, defendént GIOVANNI ARENA " :
had and received gross income of approximateiy $116,250 in 2006, $259,200 in 2007 and
$384,000 in 2008. |

4, Having received the above income, defendant GIOVANNI ARENA was required
by law, following the close of the calendar year, and on or before the tax return date, as
established by the Internal Revénue Service, to make an individual income taﬁc return to the
Internal Revemie Service stéting specifically the items of his gross income and any deduétions
and credits to which he was entitled.

5. On or about the dates listed below, in the District of New Jersey and elsewhere,

defendant
GIOVANNI ARENA

knowing and believing the foregoing facts, did knowingly and willfully fail to make an income

tax return to the Internal Revenue Service:

Count | Calendar | Gross Income (Approximate) | Date Return To Be Filed
: Year ~ '

32 2006' $116,250 : April 16, 2007

33 . |[2007 | $259,200 : April 15, 2008

34 2008 $384,000 April 15, 2009
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In violaﬁoﬁ of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7203, and Title 18, United Stg_tes

Code, Section 2.
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_ COUNT 35
(Tampering With a Witness/Victim - 18 U.S.C. § 1512(b)(3))

I Paragraphs 1 through9 and 11 of Counts 1 through 22 of this Indictment are
reallegéd and incorporated by reference as if set forth in full herein.

2. | - At all times relevant to thié Indictment, thé Internal Revenue Servicg, Criminal
Invésﬁgaﬁon (“IRS-CI”) was an agency of the United States Department of Treasury. IRS-CI
had'authority to investigate and ehforéé criminal laws relafing to federal incdme taxes and money
laundering. |

3. | .'At all times felevant to this Indictment, the Unite& States Postal Inspection
Service (“USPIS”) was the law enfércement component of the Unit‘ea States Postal Service.
USPIS had primary jl;,risdiction ov'er matters involving the United States mail, and had authority
to im)estigate and eﬁforce criminal laws reiating to mail matters, including mail fraud.

4, i Since in or about January 2009, IRS-CI'and USPI conducted an investigation into

the.mail fraud scheme, money laundering and tax related offenses described in Counts 1 through

35

5. On or about March 30, 2010, federal investigators served search warrants on

. defendant GIOVANNI ARENA’s property in Camden County, New Jersey for certain documents

and other evidence relating to possible violations of the mail fraud scheme, as well as money
lalindgring and tax related offenses. IRS-CI Special Agents and USPIS Inspectors interviewed
defendant ARENA in connection with the criminal invcstigaﬁon. -

6. At all times relevant to thlS Indictment, both an ongoing criminal investigation by
IRS-CI and USPIS and an official proceeding; as that term is defined by Title 18, United States

Code, Section 1515(a)(1), were pending in the District of New Jersey.
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7. | From on or about April 5, 201 0 to on or about April 6, 2010,vdefendant
GIOVANNI ARENA éontacted E.R. and told E.R., in substance and in part, th;lt the IRS caught
ARENA and wanted to know why defendant ARENA had received money from Proéessive
Amusements. Defendant ARENA instructed E.R. to téll IRS-CI agents and USPIS inspectoi's
that defenda.u’f ARENA worked as an employee of Progréssive Amusements and ﬂiaf defendant
ARENA had also invested some money in Progressive Amusements. In a subsequent call,
defendant ARENA told ER,, ih substance and in part, to tell the IRS that defendant ARENA and
E.R. were partners and that they invested in three pizza shops and lost all :of the mohey.

8. On or about April 12, 2010, defendant GIOVANNI ARENA contacted E.R. and ~
stated the following, in substance and in part: “Listen, I just come from the IRS again. They

gonna come and see you in Harrisburg. So they want to know from two-o-four to two-o-eight,

the money, the, the, you send to me, the checks...wa, what do we do for. I tell it was because ah,

you know, L...all the money that I lost, I tell and everything else, and the pizza shops we opened
and make sure you say everything like I say because if you don't I'm gonna tell you give aﬁother
million dollars to Two Guys Pizza in Pennsylvania, the pizza shop, remember. Two Guj's. And
you give another, another million and a half to other people. 1know that. Iknow for fact. So
you better not pui me in trouble because if you put me in trouble, I'll put you in trouble. You the
one that told me to go to the casino and try to make money. (UA). If you want to talk to me you
can.. .ailowed to call me. If you don't want to call me, then don't call me. But watch when you
open your mouth to them, alright. Because you éay, we send it to, I send it to him because I owe
him. . That's it. Bye."

9, From on or about April 5, 2010 to on or about April 12, 2010, in the District of
New Jersey and elsewhere, defendant
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GIOVANNI ARENA
did knowingly attempt to intimidate, threaten, corruptly persuade, and engage in misleéding
conduct by instrﬁcting E.R. to withhold certain facts from federal lav;l enforcement officials and
to provide false information to federal law enforcement officials with the intent to hinder and '
prevent the communication to a law enforcement officer of information relating to the possible
commission of a federaj offense.
In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1512(b)(3), and Title 18, United -

Statés Codé, Section 2.
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FIRST FORFEITURE ALLEGATION
- 1. The United States hereby gives notice to defendant GIQVANN I ARENA that,
upon his conviction of the offenses in violatio_n of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341
charged in Counts 1 through 22 of this Indictment,‘ the Government will seek forfeiture in
accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(2)(A), of all property, real anq
personal, involved inlthose offenses, and all property traceable thereto, including buf not limited
to é sum of money equal to at least approximately $1,219,200.00 in United States currency, .
representing the amount of proceeds obtained as a result of the offenses. The property to be
forfeited includes, but is not limited to, the following;:
| 1 A sum of money equall to $1,219,200 in United States currency,
represénting the amount of proceeds obtained as a result of the
offense;
ii. .2005 Maserati Coﬁpe (Blue); VIN ZAMBC38A250014922; and
iii. | 2010 Chevrolet Camaro (Silver), VIN 2G1FK1EJ4A 9149443,
| 2.. If anonf the above-described forfeitable property, as a result of any act or
omission of defendant GIOVANNI ARENA:
a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;
b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;
c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court; o
d.  hasbeen substantially diminished in vélue; or
e. has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided without
difficulty; it is the ihteni of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section
853(p), as incorporated by Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b)(1) anci Title 28, United
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States Code, Section 2461(c), to seek forfeiture of any other brpperty of defendant GIOVANNI
ARENA up to the value of the forfeitable property described above.
Pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(2)(A), and Title 28, United

States Code, Section 2461(c).
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SECOND FORFEITURE ALLEGATION

1. Thé United States hereby gives notice to defendant GIOVANNI ARENA that,
upon his conviction of the offenses in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section _1957
chargedin Counts 23 to. 31 of this Indictment, the Government will seek forfeiture in accordance
with Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1), of all property, real and personal, involved
in those offenses, and all property traceable.thereto, including but not limited to a sum of money
eqﬁal to at least approximately $706,205~in United States currency, representing the amount of
procgéds 6btainéd as a result of the offensés. Tixe property to be forfeited includes, but i's not
limited to, the followiné
i. A sum of money equal to $706,205 in United States currency,
~ representing the amount of proceeds obtained as a resql;t of the
offense;
ii. 2005 Maserati Cc;upe (Blue), VIN ZAMBC38A2500}4922; and
iii. - 2010 Chevrolet Camaro (Silver), VIN 2G1FK1EJ4A9149443.
2. If any of the above-described forfeitable property, as a result of any act or
omission of defendant GIOVANNI ARENA:
a. cannot be locatgd upon the exercise of due diligence;
b. has Been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;
c.‘ has been placed beyond the jurisdictioﬁ of the court; |
d. has been substantially diminished in value; or
e. . has been commingled with other prdperfy which cannot be divided witﬁout
difﬁculty; it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section
853(p), as incorporated by Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b)(1), to seek férfeiture of
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~ any other property of defendant GIOVANNI ARENA up to the value of Athe forfeitable property
described above.

Pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1).

A TRUE BILL

FOREPERSUN

PAUL J. FISHMAN
United States Attorney
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